No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 40333-1-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

KENNETH SLERT,

Respondent.

FILED
SEP 30 2015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petition for Review

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two,
And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN L. MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:


ERIC EISENBERG, WSBA No. 42315
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office
345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor
Chehalis, WA 98532-1900
(360) 740-1240

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, the State of Washington, was the Respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published opinion in *State v. Slett*, Court of Appeals, Division II, cause number 40333-1-II, filed August 26, 2015. A copy of the slip opinion (hereafter, "Slip. Op.") is attached for the Court's reference.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The parties and judge reviewed answers to jury questionnaires regarding juror bias from pretrial publicity in chambers on the day of trial, then the judge announced the agreed-upon dismissal of four jurors when they emerged. Was the defendant's absence for these jurors' dismissal harmless error?
2. To raise a possibility of prejudice, must a defendant do more than show that certain potential jurors were within the portion of the venire from which a jury was chosen, such as suggest some reason that those jurors were fit to serve?
3. Must the record contain direct evidence that an error was harmless for it to be proven harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, or may circumstantial evidence suffice?
4. When the record demonstrates that actual bias was the basis for a juror's dismissal, does this suffice to show harmless error?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. SUMMARY AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE

At Kenneth Slerter's murder trial (his third for the same offense), potential jurors filled out a questionnaire regarding bias from pretrial publicity. The judge, by agreement with counsel in chambers, dismissed four potential jurors based on their questionnaire answers. The Court of Appeals found that this violated the open-courts doctrine and the defendant's right to be present. *State v. Slerter (Slerter III)*, 169 Wn. App. 766, 775-779, 282 P.3d 101 (2012). This Court reversed on the open-courts issue, remanding for a harmless-error analysis on the presence issue. *State v. Slerter (Slerter IV)*, 181 Wn.2d 598, 608, 612, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014) (opinions of Gonzalez, J and Wiggins, J.). On remand, two judges held that Slerter had raised a possibility of prejudice and that the error was not harmless. Slip. Op. at 5-12. The third judge dissented on both points. *Id.* at 13-20. The State now petitions for review.

B. RELEVANT FACTS

In October of 2000, Kenneth Slerter was camping in Lewis County, Washington, when a man named John Benson drove into his campsite. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) (Nov. 18, 2009) at 17, 20, 58; VRP (Jan. 27, 2010) at 492. The two were strangers. VRP (Nov. 18, 2009) at 229. Benson invited Slerter into his truck to share some whiskey.

VRP (Jan. 27, 2010) at 492. The interaction did not go well; Slerf eventually shot and killed Benson. *Id.* at 493-95, 513. Slerf claimed that the killing was justified because Benson attacked him. *Id.* But, the physical evidence suggested an execution-style killing at close range, with one shot paralyzing Benson and a second shot fired with the gun touching Benson's head. VRP (Jan. 27, 2010) at 345, 349, 352-54, 363-64. Consistent with this evidence, Slerf told a fellow inmate that he killed Benson because Benson had come on to him. VRP (trial) at 433, 478.

The State charged and convicted Slerf of second-degree murder, but the conviction was overturned because the trial court erred in rejecting one of Slerf's proposed self-defense instructions. *State v. Slerf (Slerf I)*, No. 31876-8-II, 128 Wn. App. 1069, 2005 WL 1870661 at *1-4 (Aug. 9, 2005). Slerf was convicted again on remand; that conviction was overturned because the trial judge violated the appearance of fairness doctrine. *State v. Slerf (Slerf II)*, No. 36534-1-II, 149 Wn. App. 1043, 2009 WL 924893 at *4-5 (Apr. 7, 2009).

In the lead-up to Slerf's third trial, Slerf's lawyer submitted a jury questionnaire designed to screen the venire for exposure to pretrial publicity. VRP (Jan. 6, 2010) at 3-4. The goal was to remove jurors who were prejudiced from

hearing about Slerf's previous convictions for the same offense, without tainting the whole panel. *Id.* The parties adjusted the questionnaire's wording to obscure Slerf's previous convictions of the crime. VRP (Jan. 21, 2010) at 2-4. Otherwise, it remained as proposed by the defense. *Id.*

The prospective jurors filled out the questionnaire when they appeared for voir dire on the first day of trial. VRP (Jan. 6, 2010) at 14; VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 5-6. The trial court and counsel for both parties reviewed the questionnaires, and the defendant was present to consult with his attorney for at least a portion of this review. See VRP (January 25, 2010) at 5-6; CP at 194.¹ At some point, counsel and the judge had an in-chambers conference. CP at 194. The Court then went on the record to address some other matters, *id.*, during which the trial court announced the agreed-upon excusal of four jurors for cause:

There are a couple other things. We have had the questionnaires that have been filled out. I have already, based on the answers, after consultation with counsel, excused jurors number 19, 36, and 49 from panel two which is our primary panel and I've excused juror number 15 from panel one, the alternate panel.

¹ The defendant was present as of 9:30 a.m. that morning, when the prospective panel was still going through the questionnaires. VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 5-6. The Court did not excuse the four tainted potential jurors until 10:49 a.m. CP at 194. The judge said that they had reviewed the questionnaire answers by then. VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 5. Thus, it appears that the defendant was present for at least some of the intervening hour and twenty minutes, while the jurors finished responding to the questionnaires and counsel reviewed them.

VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 3, 5; CP at 194. Defense counsel commented that those jurors were dismissed because they had knowledge of prior trials. VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 11.

Other than agreeing about these four jurors, Slert's counsel noted that the parties had not yet discussed the voir-dire implications of the jury questionnaire. *Id.* at 10 (“[W]e still haven't dealt with the responses to the questionnaire.”). Defense counsel identified 15 potential jurors who had heard something about the case, but did not necessarily say they knew about the prior trials. *Id.* at 10-11. He requested in-chambers voir dire of these potential jurors. *Id.* The judge rejected this proposal, requiring individual voir dire to be in open court. VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 11-14. The parties conducted individual voir dire of these jurors, *id.* at 14-69, then general voir dire of the whole panel. *Id.* at 69-124.

The resulting jury heard the trial and convicted Slert for a third time. VRP (Feb. 2, 2010) at 977-79; VRP (Feb. 10, 2010) at 1-13 (sentencing).

Slert timely appealed, arguing that the in-chambers conference regarding the jury questionnaires violated his right to open courts and right to be present. The Court of Appeals agreed on both issues. *Slert III*, 169 Wn. App. 766, 775-779, 282 P.3d 101 (2012). It did not undertake a harmless-error

analysis for the right-to-presence issue because the open-courts holding preempted it. See *id.* at 778-79 (holding that the open-courts error was structural, i.e., not subject to harmless-error analysis).

This Court granted review solely on the open-courts issue and, in a split opinion, reversed. *Sfert IV*, 181 Wn.2d 598, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014). Four justices found that no closure of the courtroom occurred from the pre-voir-dire discussion of the jury questionnaires. *Id.* at 608 (opinion of Gonzalez, J.). One justice opined that *Sfert* was barred from raising his open-courts claim for the first time on appeal. *Id.* at 612 (Wiggins, J., concurring in result). The case was remanded to the Court of Appeals to consider whether the right-to-presence error was harmless. See ACORDS “Events” entry of Oct. 16, 2014, No. 87844-7.

In a published opinion on remand, a two-judge majority held that *Sfert* had raised a possibility of prejudice simply by citing *Irby*.² Slip. Op. at 5. The majority held that the error was not harmless “particularly because the jurors’ answers to the questionnaires have been destroyed, and we do not know the basis for their excusal,” *id.* at 8, and made no distinction between the hardship excusals in *Irby* and the bias

² *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

excusals in this case, *id.* at 7. The majority distinguished *Miller*,³ which found harmless error for a potential juror dismissed after witnessing pretrial matters, because in *Miller* the juror's prejudice had been demonstrated. Slip. Op. at 11.

The dissent, in contrast, disagreed that *Slett* had raised any possibility of prejudice: *Irby* had not equated any absence of the defendant with prejudice. Slip. Op. at 13-15. Rather, in *Irby* it appeared that the reasons for the potential jurors' hardship excusal may have been invalid, where in this case the jurors were excused for bias. Slip. Op. at 16. Because the jurors were excused for their answers to a questionnaire solely about their bias from knowledge of prior trials, they had no chance to sit on the jury, and the error was harmless. *Id.* at 17-19.

The State petitions for review from this split decision.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case raises a significant question of constitutional law and of substantial public interest: what does it mean for an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in the constitutional context? *Cf.* RAP 13.4(b)(3)–(4). The majority opinion below interprets *Irby* to eliminate a portion of this Court's prior test on the subject and conflicts with another

³ *State v. Miller*, 184 Wn. App. 637, 338 P. 3d 873 (2014), *rev. denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1024 (2015).

Court of Appeals decision, *State v. Miller*. Cf. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). Moreover, it suggests that only direct evidence, not circumstantial evidence, may be considered in determining whether an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court should grant review to clarify *Irby*'s meaning (on which the panel split below), to crystallize the harmless error test in right-to-presence cases, and to correct the majority's incorrect result in this murder case.

A. IRBY DOES NOT ELIMINATE THE REQUIREMENT THAT THE DEFENDANT RAISE THE POSSIBILITY OF PREJUDICE IN RIGHT-TO-PRESENCE CASES.

In a published decision, the majority below determined that the defendant raised the possibility of prejudice from right-to-presence error simply by citing *Irby*. Slip. Op. at 5. This contrasts with the usual rule in right-to-presence cases, in which the defense must first raise some possibility of prejudice, and then the State must disprove it beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 509, 664 P.2d 466 (1983); accord *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 414, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). *Irby* specifically adopted this test. *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 886, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). Thus, the majority interpreted *Irby* to abrogate the very test it purports to adopt. This Court should accept review to correct this anomalous interpretation.

In effect, the majority below misconstrues *Irby* solely as a *procedural* rule, to wit, if the defendant is not present for voir dire questioning, prejudice ensues. See Slip Op. at 5. (“[T]he alleged prejudice was the removal of some potential jurors in Slert’s absence.”). But the dissent correctly held that, even after *Irby*, the defendant must raise some *substantive* possibility of prejudice (i.e., that the jurors were somehow fit to serve on the jury), before the State must disprove the error beyond a reasonable doubt. See *id.* at 14–16, 19. The latter is consistent with *Irby*, which examines the extent to which the seemingly unsubstantiated hardship excusals in that case might have been invalidated by questioning.⁴ *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 886. The Court should accept review to adopt the dissent’s substantive interpretation of *Irby* as correct.

The distinction matters in this case because all of the evidence in the record suggests that the jurors were excused because they were biased by their knowledge of Slert’s prior trials. At no point in any of the briefing in this matter has the defense suggested why the four excused potential jurors in this case *should* have been on the jury. See Appellant’s Opening Brief, No. 40333-1-II, at 63-65 (arguing error but not

⁴ For example, there was no evidence as to why the judge thought that “3 weeks is a long time” was reason enough to excuse one of the jurors, without anyone having asked the juror about his or her ability to serve for the length of the trial. See *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 878.

prejudice); Appellant's Reply Brief, No. 40333-1-II, at 32-33 (arguing error under *Irby* and alleging that the State can't prove harmlessness, but proffering no purported prejudice).

This is true because the dismissed jurors could not realistically have served on Slert's jury. The whole point of the questionnaire was to screen out jurors who had heard that Slert was convicted at his prior trials for the same crime, which would be extremely prejudicial to Slert. VRP (Jan. 6, 2010) at 3-4. The record shows that after a review of the questionnaire answers, Slert's attorney consented to these four jurors' dismissal because they had heard about Slert's prior trials. VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 3, 5, 11; CP at 194. In contrast, Slert's attorney wished to question other potential jurors' whose knowledge of the prior convictions was not apparent from the questionnaires. *Id.* at 10-11. Thus, the four dismissed jurors were so obviously prejudiced by their knowledge of Slert's case that everyone knew, without further questioning, that they could not sit on the jury. Unlike in *Irby*, where the hardship dismissals were "soft" enough to raise a question of substantive prejudice, here Slert has raised no possibility that the jurors here could or should have served on his case.

It is not as if this process was a secret to Slert, who sat by his counsel's side during at least a portion of the review of

questionnaires,⁵ during the announcement of the four jurors' dismissal,⁶ during his counsel's request for in-chambers voir dire of other jurors,⁷ and during both the individual and general voir dire.⁸ At no point did he object, raise concerns, or otherwise indicate that his attorney's actions were contrary to his interests. Slert's silence when his attorney argued for in-chambers voir dire suggests that he agreed with his attorney's efforts to secure him a fair jury in this manner. This state of affairs starkly contrasts with *Irby*, in which the email exchange before trial showed no evidence whatsoever of the defendant's input. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 877-78, 884. Consequently, the defense has not and cannot raise any claim of prejudice to Slert from his absence when the four jurors at issue were excused. This Court should accept review to clarify that *Irby* requires some showing that the jurors in question *substantively* could have served, and should reverse the Court of Appeals decision to the contrary.⁹

⁵ Please see footnote 3, above, for the explanation of why the record supports this conclusion.

⁶ VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 3, 5; CP at 194.

⁷ VRP (Jan. 25, 2010) at 10-11.

⁸ *Id.* at 14-124.

⁹ Such a showing would be easier for the defendant than that required in other jurisdictions' right-to-presence cases when the defendant did not object at trial. In the federal system, the defendant bears the burden of showing a prejudicial impact from his absence at a juror's dismissal, if his absence counts as error at all. *Compare, e.g., United States v. Reyes*, 764 F.3d 1184, 1190-91 (9th Cir. 2014) (no error) with *United States v. Thomas*, 724 F.3d 632, 646 (5th Cir. 2013) (defendant's burden) and *United States v. Tipton*, 90 F.3d 861, 875-76 (4th Cir. 1996) (defendant's burden); see also *People v. Bean*, 560 N.E.2d 258, 264-68 (1990) (Illinois)

B. DIRECT EVIDENCE IS NOT NECESSARY TO FIND AN ERROR HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT; CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE MAY SUFFICE.

The majority below held that the jurors' dismissal was not harmless largely because those jurors' questionnaire answers were not preserved, so there was no direct evidence that the jurors were dismissed for bias. Slip. Op. at 8, 10. This Court should accept review to articulate that judges, like jurors in a criminal case, may rely solely on circumstantial evidence to find something beyond a reasonable doubt. This is an important precedential point for future cases in which a claim of error is raised solely on appeal, because there will often be no direct evidence of an issue not raised before the trial court.

The jurors' questionnaire answers concerning their own exposure to pretrial publicity would be direct evidence of bias. See WPIC 5.01 ("'[D]irect evidence' refers to evidence that is given by a witness who has directly perceived something at issue."). There is other circumstantial evidence bearing on the issue, however: whether other people thought the jurors were biased, the type of information by which they made that determination, the manner in which those people acted to show their attitude with regard to bias, and how

(defendant's burden); accord *People v. Oliver*, 972 N.E.2d 199, 202-04 (2012) (Illinois).

credible their opinion of juror bias is. See *id.* (“[C]ircumstantial evidence’ refers to evidence from which, based on your common sense and experience, you may reasonably infer something that is at issue.”). Generally, “[t]he law does not distinguish between direct and circumstantial evidence in terms of their weight or value in finding the facts in this case. One is not necessarily more or less valuable than the other.” *Id.* The majority below seemed to require direct evidence of the jurors’ bias, in contravention of this principle.

In this case, the whole purpose of the questionnaire was to try to make the defendant’s trial fair. The judge, prosecutor, and defense attorney all demonstrated a desire to weed out those potential jurors who were prejudiced by pretrial publicity. The questionnaire pertained solely to that subject. Certain jurors were dismissed based on their answers; defense counsel and the judge both commented on that point. The parties and the judge further demonstrated a concern for bias by engaging in individual voir dire of jurors who *may* have been biased. They excused only those jurors who actually showed bias from prior exposure, suggesting that they had acted similarly with the in-chambers dismissals. This is all circumstantial evidence that the jurors excused in chambers were actually biased—there is no reason to

disbelieve the parties' or the judge's assertions on the subject. And if one has an abiding belief in the truth of the matter, one is satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. WPIC 4.01. This Court should accept review to establish that an appellate court may rely on circumstantial evidence alone to conclude that error may be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. WHEN SUFFICIENT BIAS IS DEMONSTRATED IN THE RECORD, DISMISSING A JUROR IN THE DEFENDANT'S ABSENCE IS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The majority below's decision to the contrary here was inconsistent with *State v. Miller*, 184 Wn. App. 637, 338 P. 3d 873 (2014), *rev. denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1024 (2015). In *Miller*, a potential juror was in the courtroom during pretrial proceedings. *Id.* at 640. The Court discovered this while the defendant was absent and excused the potential juror. *Id.* The error was harmless because the potential prejudice to the parties of having that person on the jury was too great. *Id.* at 647. In other words, because the record demonstrated juror bias, the dismissal was harmless.

The majority below acknowledges that "[t]he record demonstrates that the jurors were excused 'for cause,' that Slerf's counsel agreed to their excusal, and that the jurors were likely excused because of knowledge of previous proceedings in Slerf's case." Slip. Op. at 7. Yet, the majority

discounts this evidence of bias because it speculates that, had more voir dire questioning occurred, the bias might have seemed different. See *id.* The majority interprets *Irby* to require this speculative result. *Id.* This analysis misses the mark for three reasons.

First, it is inconsistent with *Miller*. In *Miller*, further voir dire questioning may well have shown that the juror was not biased despite sitting in the courtroom for the pretrial matters. For example, the juror might not have been paying attention, or might have been deaf or hard of hearing, and so not have witnessed anything prejudicial. But, in the face of credible evidence of bias in the record, the *Miller* opinion does not engage in such speculation. *Miller*, 184 Wn. App. at 647. In contrast, the majority opinion below finds the evidence of bias in the record less weighty than its speculation, which is based on nothing in the record. Had Slert raised any possibility that the jurors were not biased and should have served, perhaps the majority opinion's analysis would be appropriate. *Cf. id.* ("Miller has not made any attempt to explain how juror 28 would have been allowed to remain on his jury under these circumstances."). Slert raised no such possibility. The Court should accept review to clarify that *Miller's* approach is

correct: when evidence of bias appears in the record, the defendant must raise the possibility of prejudice to prevail.

Second, *Irby* does not require speculation unless called for by the record. There, the judge concluded without any questioning of the juror that “3 weeks is a long time,” and so a home-schooler should be dismissed. See *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 878. This conclusion does not follow, so voir-dire questioning about hardship was appropriate. *Id.* at 886. Here, in contrast, it was clear why a juror exposed to publicity about the case would be prejudiced: Slett had been convicted twice before of the same murder, which had been reported. The point of the questionnaire was to locate those jurors who were prejudiced because they knew about it. Consequently, the majority below's speculation is misplaced. The Court should grant review to say that *Irby* does not require it.

Third and finally, the majority below is wrong on the facts. The majority speculates that more voir dire of the jurors dismissed in chambers might have yielded a different result. On the record here, that speculation makes no sense: defense counsel specifically identified those jurors whom he wished to voir dire individually. To believe that he acquiesced in the in-chambers dismissal of jurors whom he wished to rehabilitate, instead of employing the individual voir dire he