STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS 

In October of 2000, Kenneth Slert met John Benson while both 

were hunting on national forest land. RP 491-492, 548. They became 

intoxicated together, argued, and fought. RP 153-154, 405, 492, 548-550, 

616,764-769. Mr. Slert shot and killed Benson. RP 492,517. 

Mr. Slert contacted a forest ranger for help. RP 176-178. He told 

the ranger that he'd acted in self defense, that he'd been afraid the other 

man would choke him to death, and that he'd feared for his life. RP 179, 

187,215, 217. 

Over the course of the next four years, Mr. Slert consistently 

maintained that he'd acted in self defense. He had a poor recollection of 

the details of the incident, and repeatedly engaged Lewis County Sheriffs 

Detective Kurt Wetzold in conversation about the shooting. Wetzold 

made no record of these conversations. RP (11/8/09) 89-102, 175-222; RP 

(1/27/10) 483-521; RP (1/28/10) 528-611. 

Four years after the shooting, Mr. Slert was charged with second

degree murder. CP 1-3. After two successful appeals, Mr. Slert was tried 

a third time in 2010. CP 25-37,48-66. At the start ofhis 2010 trial, 

prospective jurors were summoned to court and completed a questionnaire 

to determine their fitness to serve. CP 359-361. 
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The trial judge excused four prospective jurors during a pretrial 

conference held in chambers. CP 194-197. The court disclosed this just 

prior to the start of voir dire in open court: 

THE COURT: There are a couple other things. We have 
had the questionnaires that have been filled out. I have 
already, based on the answers, after consultation with 
counsel, excused jurors number 19, 36, and 49 from panel 
two which is our primary panel and I've excused juror 
number 15 from panel one, the alternate panel that we'll be 
using today. 
RP 5. 

Mr. Slert was not present for this pretrial conference in chambers. 

RP 5. Three of the four jurors were within the range of prospective jurors 

ultimately selected to serve on the jury. 1 RP 5; CP 194-197. The court 

clerk destroyed the completed jury questionnaires. 2 See State v. Slert, No. 

40333-1-11,2015 WL 5042148, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 26, 2015) 

(Slert I). 

Mr. Slert appealed and the Court of Appeals reversed. In addition 

to finding a public trial violation, the Court of Appeals held that the trial 

court's in camera dismissal of prospective jurors violated Mr. Slert's right 

to be present. State v. Slert, 169 Wn. App. 766, 769, 282 P.3d 101 (2012) 

1 The state repeatedly calls this the "agreed-upon dismissal" of the jurors, but that is not 
established in the record. See Petition, page 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 10; RP (1/25110) 2-12. Maybe 
omit, since majority kind of agreed with them? 
2 The trial judge retained a draft copy of the blank questionnaire, which was later made part 
ofthe record. CP 359-361. 
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review granted in part, 176 Wn.2d 1031,299 P.3d 20 (2013) (Slert II). 

The Supreme Court accepted review on the public trial issue and reversed 

the Court of Appeals. State v. Slert, 181 Wn.2d 598, 609, 334 P.3d 1088 

(2014) (Slert III). The court remanded the case for the Court of Appeals to 

determine "whether the violation of Slert's right to be present is harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt." !d. 

On remand, the Court of Appeals concluded that the error was not 

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Slert I, No. 40333-1-II, 2015 WL 

5042148, at *3-6. 

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE CASE DOES NOT MEET 

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B). 

This case is not appropriate for review. 

It involves a straightforward application of well-settled law. 

Acceptance of review would accomplish nothing: the end result would be 

near-mechanical affirmance under State v. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 886, 246 

P.3d 796 (2011). Reversing the Court of Appeals would involve 

overruling Irby, a result forbidden by stare decisis, because Irby is neither 

incorrect nor harmful. See State v. WR., Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 768, 336 

P.3d 1134 (2014) ("We will overrule a prior decision only upon a clear 

showing that the rule it announced is incorrect and harmful.") 
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Furthermore, the case raises no issues that merit review under RAP 

13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with another 

appellate decision, does not raise a significant constitutional question, and 

does not present an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). 

Finally, the Supreme Court has already rejected review of the same 

issue in this very case. The Supreme Court should again deny review. 

A. This court previously rejected the state's Petition on the right-to
be-present issue. 

Petitioner previously asked this court to review the Court of 

Appeals' decision regarding the application of Irbi to Mr. Slert's case. 

See Petition for Review (filed 9/6112), No. 87844-7, pp. 1, 10-12. At that 

time, this court did not accept review of the right-to-be-present issue. See 

Order (filed 4/8/13), No. 87844-7 (granting review "only on the public 

trial issue.") 

This case involves a straightforward application of established 

Supreme Court precedent. The issue addressed by Petitioner did not merit 

review in April of2013 and does not merit review now. The court should 

deny review. RAP 13 .4(b ). 

3 Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886. 
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B. lrby 's test for prejudice clearly and unequivocally requires reversal 
ofMr. Slert's conviction. 

The Supreme Court should deny review because Mr. Slert's case is 

controlled by clearly established precedent. Denial of the right to be 

present requires reversal unless the state shows harmlessness beyond a 

reasonable doubt. lrb/, 170 Wn.2d at 886. Where the denial involves 

jury selection, the state must show beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

excused jurors "had no chance to sit on [the] jury." !d. 

As in lrby, three jurors in this case "fell within the range of jurors 

who ultimately comprised the jury and their alleged inability to serve was 

never tested by questioning in [Mr. Slert' s] presence." !d.; RP 5; CP 194-

197. Thus, as in lrby, the state cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that they had "no chance" to serve in Mr. Slert' s case. 5 !d. 

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, Irby does not impose additional 

requirements on a defendant whose constitutional rights have been 

violated. !d. Petitioner erroneously seeks to shift the burden to Mr. Slert, 

arguing that he must show "that the jurors were somehow fit to serve on 

4 The state claims repeatedly that the Court of Appeals Opinion holds that citing to lrby . 
This is a gross and inaccurate oversimplification of the court's analysis and holding in this 
case. See Slert I, No. 40333-1-II, 2015 WL 5042148; Petition, page 6, 8. 

5 In fact, the record available to the state in this case makes the task of showing harmlessness 
even more impossible than that faced by the state in lrby. The Irby court had a chain of 
emails showing the basis for excusing each potential juror. !d., at 878. Here, by contrast, the 
court has destroyed the completed jury questionnaires and there is no record ofthe in camera 
proceeding. RP 5; See Slert I, No. 40333-1-II, 2015 WL 5042148, at *1. 

5 



the jury ... before the State must disprove the error beyond a reasonable 

d b "P . . g6 ou t. etitwn, p. . 

This is wholly incorrect. Once the defendant shows a violation of 

his constitutional right, the burden shifts to the state to show harmlessness 

beyond a reasonable doubt. This is the rule in lrby and in all other cases 

involving constitutional error. See, e.g., WR., Jr., 181 Wn.2d at 770; 

State v. Lamar, 180 Wn.2d 576, 588,327 P.3d 46 (2014). 

Petitioner's attempt to shift the burden is understandable, because 

the state cannot show harmlessness under any standard.7 The court's 

destruction of completed jury questionnaires8 and the lack of a record of 

the in camera hearing means that Petitioner "has not and cannot show that 

[the excused jurors] had no chance to sit on [Mr. Slert' s] jury." lrby, 170 

Wn.2d at 886. 

As in Irby, any bias suggested by answers to juror questionnaires 

should have been resolved through questioning in Mr. Slert's presence. 

!d. Questioning may have dispelled concerns about juror bias. For 

6 Petitioner later urges the court to accept review "to clarify that lrby requires some showing 
that the jurors in question substantively could have served ... " Petition, p. 11 (emphasis in 
original). 

7 In other words, Mr. Slert can easily show a possibility of prejudice above and beyond that 
required by the lrby court. Using Petitioner's terminology, the dismissed jurors 
"substantively could have served ... " Petition, p. 11 (emphasis in original). This is because the 
trial judge had discretion to seat even those jurors whose questionnaires expressed bias 
stemming from pretrial publicity, as outlined below. 

8 See Slert I, No. 40333-1-11, 2015 WL 5042148, at* 1. 
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example, one or more of the jurors may have mistakenly believed that a 

newspaper article or local radio item pertained to Mr. Slert's case, when, 

in fact, it related to some other notorious crime.9 The destruction of the 

questionnaires and the lack of a transcript make it impossible for the state 

to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that such a mistake did not occur. 

Similarly, a juror who expressed bias in the questionnaire might 

change his or her mind during questioning. For example, in one high-

profile case, a prospective juror initially condemned the defendant's 

associates; however, "when asked to explain these [biased] statements 

during voir dire, [the prospective juror] said he had 'thought about that 

question since the questionnaire' and concluded that he could judge [the 

defendant] on the evidence alone." United States v. Pratt, 728 F.3d 463, 

473 (5th Cir. 2013) cert. denied, 134 S.Ct. 1328, 188 L.Ed.2d 338 (2014). 

Again, given the destruction of the questionnaire and the court's failure to 

conduct proceedings in Mr. Slert's presence, the state cannot prove 

beyond a reasonable doubt that each of the jurors had no chance of sitting 

on the jury. Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886. 

Furthermore, a trial judge has discretion to seat jurors who have 

been exposed to publicity. See, e.g, State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. App. 

9 The questionnaire provided a very brief description of the allegations and instructed 
prospective jurors to "simply give the best and most complete answer that you can," even if 
they were "not entirely certain." CP 389-391. 
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518, 540, 174 P.3d 706 (2008) aff'd, 169 Wn.2d 47, 234 P.3d 169 (2010). 

Generally, "the question is whether a juror with preconceived ideas can set 

them aside." State v. No/tie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839, 809 P.2d 190 (1991). 

Even those jurors exposed to pretrial publicity who "admit[ ] to forming 

negative opinions" are not necessarily "unable to perform their duties" and 

thus may be allowed to serve. Pratt, 728 F.3d at 473. 

Had Mr. Slert been present, he would have had the right to ask his 

attorney to waive objection to certain defense-oriented jurors who said 

they could be fair despite exposure to pretrial publicity. The absence of the 

completed questionnaires and the lack of a transcript of the in camera 

hearing means that the state cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

the dismissed jurors had no chance of sitting on the jury. Irby, 170 Wn.2d 

at 886. 

The procedure used here violated Mr. Slert' s constitutional right to 

be present. Jrby, 170 Wn.2d at 886. Three jurors excused in his absence 

were within the range of jurors who ended up on the jury, and the state 

cannot show harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. 

The Court of Appeals correctly applied Irby. This case presents no 

new issues. The Supreme Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b). 

The lower court's decision does not conflict with Miller. 
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The state bears the burden of proving constitutional error harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886. In cases such as this 

one, the prosecution must show that jurors dismissed in the defendant's 

absence had no chance of sitting on the jury. !d. The state failed to do so 

here, in part because of the destruction of the questionnaire and the lack of 

a record of the in camera proceeding. RP 5; See Slert I, No. 40333-1-11, 

2015 WL 5042148, at *1. 

Where a complete record exists of the reason for dismissal, the 

state can show that a prospective juror had no chance of sitting. State v. 

Miller, 184 Wn. App. 637, 647, 338 P.3d 873 (2014) review denied, 182 

Wn.2d 1024, 347 P.3d 459 (2015). In Miller, the trial judge dismissed a 

prospective juror who inadvertently sat in on pretrial discussions. !d., at 

640. 

In Miller, the court found the error harmless without determining 

that a violation had occurred. 10 !d., at 646. The dismissed juror had no 

chance to remain on the jury because the potential prejudice was "far too 

great." !d., at 647. The Miller court was able to reach this conclusion 

because it had a record of the proceedings to which the prospective juror 

had been exposed. !d., at 640. 

10 Prospective jurors in Miller had not yet been sworn; nor had they answered a case-specific 
questionnaire. Miller, 184 Wn. App. at 641. In this case, as well as in lrby, the jurors had 
been sworn and did complete case-specific questionnaires. Irby. 
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In this case, the Court of Appeals did not have such a record. Had 

the court retained copies of the completed juror questionnaires, the record 

might have been sufficiently complete to allow the Court of Appeals to 

determine that each dismissed juror had no chance of sitting. However, in 

the absence of the completed questionnaires, the state cannot provide any 

details as to why each prospective juror was dismissed. For example, a 

prospective juror who barely recalled seeing a newspaper headline years 

earlier might be allowed to sit on the jury, despite exposure to pretrial 

publicity. See, e.g., Grenning, 142 Wn. App. at 541. 

The absence of a record is what distinguishes this case from Miller. 

There is no conflict between the two decisions. The Supreme Court 

should deny review. 

CONCLUSION 

The Petitioner fails to raise any issues meriting review under RAP 

13.4(b). This case involves a direct application of well-settled law. 

Reversing the Court of Appeals would require overruling lrby and 

complicating what has been a clear rule. Furthermore, Petitioner raised 

this very issue in a prior petition; the Supreme Court rejected review then 

and should do so again now.